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NOTE ON DATES


In the seventeenth century, the English calendar (Old Style) was ten days behind the rest of Europe (New Style) and the new year began on 25 March. For the purposes of this book, all dates are given in the Old Style, but I have taken the new year to begin on 1 January.




INTRODUCTION


THE KING’S HEAD


The king’s head was framed against the London sky. Storm clouds gathered in the distance, throwing into relief the figure of Charles I as he trotted back into the palace from his morning ride. As he swung his mount through the arch, light flooded the scene, illuminating his brilliantly polished armour and the forehead of his grey mare. Pierre Antoine Bourdin, Monsieur de St Antoine, Charles’s life-long riding master and equerry, hurried alongside. Holding the king’s helmet, he gazed at his master, ready to snatch the bridle should the horse suddenly rear up and unseat its rider. But as he rested his baton of state on the horse’s withers, the king appeared in total control of his mount.1


Charles was the resplendent monarch, surrounded by the trappings of power and authority, mastering his horse as imperiously as he managed his kingdom. His face wore a glazed, serene expression, the eyes gazing out, meeting those of his audience. He was a king at ease with himself and his crown and at peace with the world. Bourdin held his helmet, suggesting that this was no time for war. From the blue ribbon across Charles’s armour-plated breast hung a gold medallion of St George, which contained a portrait of the king’s French wife, Queen Henrietta Maria. St George was the patron saint of England and the Order of the Garter, the ancient chivalric order of knights over whose ceremonies Charles presided every year in the Chapel of St George at Windsor Castle. This arrival through the arch was more than just a ritual of Charles returning from his daily ride. It was a carefully rehearsed performance of the sovereign as omnipotent imperial ruler. Here was the king as a Christian prince, a contemporary St George, defending his kingdom and his family from their foes, whoever they might be.


ANTHONY VAN DYCK completed his massive canvas of King Charles on horseback with Monsieur de St Antoine in 1633, just months after coming to London and being appointed as Principal Painter in Ordinary to the King and Queen. Urbane, sophisticated and internationally acclaimed, Van Dyck had been knighted at St James’s shortly after his arrival, given an annual pension of £200 and housed in style in a Thames-side house in Blackfriars. The picture of Charles on horseback was personally commissioned by the king, who wanted a majestic and visually arresting portrait of himself to grace one end of his gallery in St James’s. What Van Dyck delivered was an image that irresistibly combined Charles’s private life with his public calling; here was the king as emperor, Christian knight, devoted husband, consummate horseman, generous patron and father to his peaceful kingdom.


Van Dyck’s painting of the king impressed all who saw it with its vividly realistic detail and its effortless skill in attributing to Charles the various public and private personae that he always craved. It provoked an awed response from visiting dignitaries when they saw it for the first time. Sieur de la Serre was a French diplomat who accompanied the French queen mother, Marie de’ Medici, on her state visit to London to see Henrietta Maria in November 1638. After admiring the architecture and decor of St James’s Palace, La Serre described the fabulous collection of paintings on display:




There is also an infinite number which cannot have been bought, according to their value, but by a great monarch. At one of the ends of the three-sided gallery, there is a portrait of the king in armour, and on horseback, by the hand of the Chevalier Vandheich; and, not to lie, his pencil, in preserving the majesty of this great monarch, has by his industry so animated him, that if the eyes alone were to be believed, they would boldly assert that he lived in this portrait.2





The Frenchman looked on the king at the height of his power, displaying his court and personal authority to his French mother-in-law and her diplomatic entourage. To La Serre Charles appeared happily married with a healthy male heir, finally at peace with the rest of Europe, and universally acclaimed as a discerning and astute patron of the arts.


Yet the smooth veneer and gloss of Charles’s pictures masked cracks that came to define his reign. At barely five feet four inches tall, and still suffering from the stammer and weak legs that plagued his childhood, the king approved of Van Dyck’s tactful decision to portray him as a towering colossus dressed in armour, astride a great horse measuring at least fifteen hands. Van Dyck borrowed the design from his master, Peter Paul Rubens, who in turn had drawn his inspiration from Titian’s equestrian portrait of the sixteenth-century Habsburg emperor Charles V. The ability of both these painters to create such compelling but apparently effortless images of majesty led Charles to employ Rubens and spend most of his reign pursuing pictures by Titian.


On the sudden death of his beloved brother, Prince Henry, in 1612, Charles had been catapulted into the limelight as the new resident of St James’s Palace and unexpected heir to the English throne. Where Henry began a royal English interest in the arts for their own sake, Charles followed, spending a lifetime trying to emulate his glamorous, popular brother. Henry’s brief foray into collecting in the years preceding his death left a lasting impact on Charles, who, unfortunately, however hard he tried, never quite matched up. Although Henry’s example inspired his younger brother to pursue ever-more impressive artworks in first the Low Countries, then Spain and finally Italy, Charles never really achieved the public affection and political authority that Henry possessed during his short life.


Instead, as both prince and king, Charles struggled with a series of increasingly disaffected parliaments that he did little to placate. Alarmed at his autocratic political style, they opposed his reckless foreign policy and questioned his religious adherence to their particular version of Protestantism. In the early years of his reign, Charles launched his kingdom on a series of expensive and pointless wars with first Spain and then France, each more disastrous than the next. In the process, despite his conscientious approach towards matters of state, Charles plunged the nation into debts of over one and a half million pounds. The shield in Van Dyck’s painting that displayed the united crowns of England, Wales, Scotland and Ireland only partially obscured the religious conflicts that also dogged Charles’s reign. In Scotland, Charles’s insistence on imposing episcopacy and an Anglican prayer book on a predominantly Presbyterian Scottish Church led to open rebellion and the so-called Bishops’ Wars of 1639–40 that saw the king’s English armies humiliatingly driven out of Scotland. His uncompromising governance and colonial plantation of Ireland also caused simmering resentment among both its Catholic and settler communities which finally erupted into armed rebellion with the Ulster Uprising of 1641. Both conflicts destroyed the fragile political consensus that Charles’s father, King James I, had spent his largely peaceful reign creating, and ultimately led Charles into a bloody civil war that would destroy him and many of his closest friends and family.


Nobody could have envisaged such cataclysmic events in 1638 as the French entourage gazed up at the monumental painting of the English king. Even Charles’s mother-in-law was impressed by the magnificent array of pictures, sculptures and tapestries that she saw during her time at St James’s and Whitehall. As well as Van Dyck’s portrait, her servant La Serre approved of ‘the beauty and invention’ of the tapestries he encountered in the palace’s state rooms. He admired pictures by Jacopo Bassano and Tintoretto, and more Van Dycks that lined the gallery in St James’s, which he praised as ‘ingeniously executed’ and attracting ‘the admiration of even the most incurious’.3


La Serre was not the only person to record his impressions of Charles’s portrait in the winter of 1638–9. While he was admiring the king’s collection, Abraham van der Doort, Keeper of the Cabinet Room at St James’s, was busily inventorying it. The equestrian portrait was listed as ‘A Picture of the King’s Majesty in Armour upon a White Horse as big as the life in a great large carved frame by Sir Anthony Vandike’.4 Standing at over three and a half metres in height and two and a half metres wide, the painting and its subject were quite literally larger than life and towered over onlookers so that the king gazed out as his subjects looked up. As a failed painter himself, van der Doort must have felt admiration tinged with envy for the compatriot who had painted such a perfectly executed and intimidating portrait of the man they both learned to call ‘Your Majesty’.


In stark contrast to Van Dyck, van der Doort was an itinerant Dutch craftsman born of a family of painters and engravers. He had come to the attention of Henry, Prince of Wales, who had appointed the Dutchman as the overseer of his growing collection of pictures, drawings and medals. Following Henry’s unexpected death, van der Doort gradually established himself as the keeper of Prince Charles’s art collection and in April 1625 Charles kept his dead brother’s promise to make the Dutchman Keeper of the Cabinet Room in St James’s Palace on a salary of £50 a year. His responsibilities included ‘the collecting, receiving, delivering, sorting, placing & removing and causing of making by our appointing such things as we shall think fit & also to keep a Register book of them’.5 It was a good position, but for a man who once harboured ambitions as a court painter, the time-consuming administrative job of looking after the king’s pictures must have had its limitations, as a contemporary portrait of the Dutchman suggests. The worried look in the eyes and the furrowed brow hint at a life defined by frustration and disappointment.6


While Van Dyck spent 1639 collecting over £300 in payment ‘for pictures for his Majesty’s use’ and preparing to marry Mary Ruthven, an aristocratic lady-in-waiting to the queen, van der Doort was combing the chilly royal palaces, scribbling down lists of the king’s pictures. His role was more on a par with that of Charles’s devoted equerry, Pierre Antoine Bourdin, obscured in the shadows of Van Dyck’s painting, than a painter trying to emulate the Old Masters whose canvases he so lovingly repaired and catalogued in the service of his adopted sovereign.


HUNG ON EITHER SIDE of Van Dyck’s towering equestrian portrait in the gallery of St James’s Palace were the spectres of seven mounted Roman emperors. Dignitaries were implicitly invited to admire the greater achievement of Van Dyck, and put Charles in the same imperial league as the emperors on the wall: Julius Caesar, his adopted son Augustus Caesar, Tiberius, Claudius, Nero, Galba and Otho.7 Yet Charles harboured another reason for proudly displaying these works. He had bought the pictures from the Gonzaga dynasty of Mantua in the late 1620s, paying over £18,000 for one of the greatest collections of Renaissance art in Italy. At the time, the purchase had seriously strained Charles’s exchequer, but it finally placed him where he wanted to be – among the elite of Europe’s royal collectors like the Habsburgs and the papacy. Charles craved affirmation as a powerful prince and astute collector. Unfortunately for him, the gulf between the imperial aspirations of his picture gallery and the political reality of his reign only widened as the years went by and his art collection grew. His disastrous wars with Spain and France in the 1620s strengthened domestic opposition to his rule and increasingly stretched the nation’s finances. When the king actually led the English army into battle for the first time against the Scottish Presbyterians in 1639, his campaign collapsed in confusion and disarray. This was hardly the result desired by a king portrayed by Van Dyck as a conquering Roman emperor.


Van der Doort’s inventory suggests that the keeper had already cast a critical eye over the artistic execution of the Roman emperors. They arrived from Mantua as a series of pairs. The Venetian master Titian painted the larger, finer portraits in the mid-sixteenth century, while the workshop of the Roman artist Giulio Romano completed the smaller figures on horseback. Titian’s emperors were dramatic, imposing figures, executed with the painter’s effortless grace. Giulio’s response hung below each one. The entry in van der Doort’s inventory was a model of diplomacy: ‘A Halfe figure of Julius Caesar By Titian’ was followed by its twin, ‘A lesser of Julius Caesar on Horsebacke By Julio Romano’.8 ‘Lesser’ usually meant smaller, but van der Doort possibly intended something a little more critical, based on close scrutiny of Giulio’s panels. The wood had been badly chosen: it was full of knots and already showed signs of warping; the panels were barely primed, leaving the surface rough and uneven, hardly touched by Giulio. Instead, his apprentices had painted all seven. These were paintings finished in a hurry. Worse, van der Doort realized that the pictures were not meant to represent emperors but were in fact anonymous Roman soldiers on horseback. Such information was obviously best kept from the king.


In addition to Van Dyck’s portrait and the Roman emperors, the gallery’s walls were filled with some of the finest paintings of the European Renaissance. Covering the length of the room were vast, apocalyptic scenes of biblical and classical life looming out of the shadows. On one side is a scene of devastation as the biblical flood washes away a village. Terrified men and women pluck their children from the deluge and others stream towards Noah’s Ark in the background. This was the Venetian painter Jacopo Bassano’s dramatic painting of The Flood, praised for its dramatic execution, but also a prized possession for the simple fact that it was another example of Charles’s Mantuan purchases. The king’s acquisitions did not impress everyone. William Sanderson, an early English authority on the arts, praised the painter as ‘an old and excellent Master’ but complained that Bassano was ‘so affected to pots and dripping-pans, to blue cotes and dogs, that his history of the deluge sometimes in the gallery at St James’s by Whitehall, seems to be rather a disordered and confused kitchen than Noah’s flood’.9


Equally striking was a painting of a beautiful, gorgeously dressed Judith waving the head of Holofernes. In her right hand she holds the sword with which she has just decapitated the general, while in her left she grasps the head by its hair. Holofernes’ dismayed expression, his furrowed brow and lank beard are caught in the shocked moment of death, his head beautifully contrasted with the glowing, righteous face of his executioner. This explicit painting appears to have concerned van der Doort, not because of its violent subject matter but because he was unable to verify its painter. His inventory read ‘A Judith with Holophernes head Copied after Brunzino’, Bronzino being the adopted name of the Tuscan artist Cristofano Allori.10 His picture of Judith also ended up in the hands of Charles via the Mantua purchase, but van der Doort obviously doubted that it was by the master’s own hand and cautiously marked it down as a copy. He knew from personal experience that the art market was a cut-throat world where both artists and dealers possessed few scruples in selling a copy of an original masterpiece, even when they were negotiating with a king.


Van der Doort was more convinced about the artist responsible for the impressive Rape of Helen that hung further down the gallery. It could only be the great sixteenth-century Venetian colourist Jacopo Tintoretto. Next to it hung another dramatic painting, Prometheus Chained to the Caucasus, by one of Charles’s favourite Italian artists, the recently deceased Palma Giovane, and inherited by the king from his brother, Henry. Moving along the gallery, there were more pictures by Titian and Giulio Romano, as well as vividly lit paintings by the contemporary Bolognese painter Guido Reni. These were the kind of pictures that Charles particularly favoured and coveted: baroque, dramatically allegorical Italian paintings, heavy in classical allusion and religious significance. They were bought, borrowed, exchanged and appropriated by the king in their hundreds.


The gallery also contained exquisite examples of more traditional northern European pictures. Charles had difficulty luring his cherished Italian artists to London, partly because they objected to working for a heretical Protestant royal court, but also because he simply could not afford them. Instead, he used Protestant artists from the Low Countries to paint his picture, as well as portraits of his friends and family. Van der Doort could admire the handiwork of one of his other compatriots, the Dutch painter Gerrit van Honthorst, in the large group portrait that he recorded as ‘The King and Queen of Bohemia and their Children’. The queen of Bohemia was Charles’s elder sister, Elizabeth, who married Frederick V, the Protestant Elector Palatine of the Rhine, in 1613, just three months after the death of Henry, Prince of Wales. When Frederick and Elizabeth later accepted the crown of Bohemia, they were expelled by a Catholic army and forced into exile in the Low Countries. Family honour required that Charles support his beleaguered sister and brother-in-law, but England’s politically and militarily isolated position on the edge of Europe made him reluctant to intervene. The presence of van Honthorst’s painting of Elizabeth and her family was a public statement of Charles’s commitment to her cause. But it was also a guilty reminder of his inability to provide tangible help for his only surviving sibling. This was a failure that would haunt both his private life and his kingship, and alienate many of his subjects, for Elizabeth was seen as a long-suffering icon of Protestantism and was viewed by some as a preferable monarch to Charles.


Finally, the gallery held another luminous portrait by Van Dyck. Van der Doort’s inventory describes the picture as ‘Two little figures of the young Duke of Buckingham, and his Brother the Lord Francis’. Their father, George Villiers, the Duke of Buckingham, was one of the most notorious and reviled figures in English political life up until his bloody assassination in Portsmouth in August 1628. He had established himself as the favourite and lover of King James I, wisely cultivated a close relationship with Charles and accompanied the young prince to Madrid in 1623 in his unsuccessful attempt to marry the Spanish Infanta, Maria. Buckingham’s subsequent political influence allowed him to push Charles into war with first Spain and then France. His own military campaigns led to disaster and personal humiliation for his king. Nevertheless, Charles remained doggedly loyal to one of his oldest and dearest friends. As Parliament called for the duke’s blood, he was stabbed to death by one of his own disaffected soldiers. Charles was inconsolable, having lost his closest confidant not only in politics but also in art.


Along with his great rival in politics and collecting, Thomas Howard, Earl of Arundel, Buckingham possessed the only art collection to rival that of the king. Van der Doort knew this, having seen the exquisite collection of over 300 paintings by Rubens, Caravaggio, Titian, Tintoretto and Bassano that hung in the duke’s magnificent Thames-side residence of York House on the Strand, overseen by van der Doort’s more flamboyant compatriot Balthazar Gerbier. Van Dyck’s portrait of Buckingham’s children was a wistful elegy to the king’s dead friend in happier times. While it was a moving testament to the king’s loyalty to those who remained close to him, it also revealed another side to Charles: his fatal insensitivity towards those who criticized his friends. Many politicians and diplomats looked on the portraits of the Buckinghams as an abiding image of much that went wrong during Charles’s reign, and their continued presence in the royal palaces acted as a perpetual snub to those who dared to question the king.


Throughout history, people have collected objects for various reasons: self-esteem, public approval, the attainment of authority, the personal obsession to classify, and the desire for completeness. There were several deeply personal and historical factors that also motivated Charles. Today, historians of collecting tend to regard the obsessive collector as akin to the neurotic, suggesting that ‘the objects in their possession are all ultimate, often unconscious assurances against despair and loneliness’, intended to ‘ward off existential doubt’.11 Charles exhibited some of these characteristics. Like most monarchs, he was a deeply insecure ruler, but his particular hopes and fears uniquely predisposed him to invest his time and money in paintings. Robbed of his brother, sister and mother as a teenager, and of his father and his closest companion in his early twenties, his art collection acted as a consoling repository of the memories of those he had lost but still cherished and wished to emulate. Always unsure of his physical and personal stature, Charles came to define his royal authority through the awe and silence induced by painting, rather than the books and public disputation cherished by his father. Charles lacked the scholarly erudition of his father, James I, and the ruthless pragmatism of his son, Charles II. His close attention to detail and tendency towards prevarication made him particularly susceptible to the pleasures of collecting, with its absorption in questions of provenance, attribution, style and judgement. As a shy, awkward man with little grasp of people but a rigid belief in his royal title, he turned naturally to pictures. As his rule became increasingly autocratic, Charles collected ever more pictures and focused commissions on his royal body to provide assuring images of his power. This suggests that his collecting and patronage of the arts were not a withdrawal from the reality of political life, as is sometimes assumed, but a response to groups that increasingly questioned his authority.


Charles grew up as a ruler looking towards Europe. He was a member of the cosmopolitan Scottish Stuart dynasty, which was closely connected to the cultural influences of Italy and France at a time when the Tudor monarchy was turning its back on the rest of Europe. Like many other European monarchs and aristocrats of the early seventeenth century, Charles was caught up in the midst of the growing fashion for art that swept the Continent, which meant that to establish his royal credentials he required a collection. Rejecting the stiff, formal portraiture inherited from his Tudor predecessors, he followed his courtiers in pursuing the classically inspired works of the fifteenth- and sixteenth-century Italian masters, Mantegna, Giorgione, Raphael and, above all, Titian. He also collected the new baroque style of contemporary painters like Peter Paul Rubens, Guido Reni and Orazio Gentileschi, with their complex classical and political allegories charged with emotion and executed in a rich, colourful and dramatic style.


As seventeenth-century political life changed, so did Charles’s collecting. Across Europe’s royal courts the patronage of art became less concerned with simply displaying pictures whose subjects told a story of royal power and authority. Instead, stylistic innovation and artistic achievement were sought as much if not more than explicit political content. A king’s power and judgement were increasingly defined by his ability to discern and acquire great works of art by acknowledged masters. So for Charles, ownership of a Titian Madonna was as significant as a Van Dyck portrait of the royal family. His mistake was to imagine that the radical reforming Protestants among his people would understand this. Unlike Catholicism, Protestantism had little interest in the public display of visual images; nor did the very private conception of monarchy practised by the Stuarts allow for such display. Instead, Charles’s interest in art was largely conducted behind closed doors, his precious pictures denied to all but a select few given access to the intimate chambers and galleries of the royal palaces. However, like most collectors, his desire to accumulate soon overtook all sense of caution, and it turned him into one of the most voracious purchasers of art that the English royal family has ever seen.


Charles was a great collector, but not the great connoisseur assumed by many. The term ‘connoisseur’ only began to emerge in England in the eighteenth century, to describe a wealthy collector with an instinctive taste for the fine arts, skilled in the identification of beautiful objects. Nevertheless, many art historians sympathetic to Charles’s political downfall retrospectively dubbed him the first great connoisseur of the arts in England. Henry Perrinchief, writing in the 1670s, painted Charles as a sensitive, discerning connoisseur, claiming that he would pick up his painter’s brush and ‘supply the defects of art in the workman, and suddenly draw those lines, give those airs and lights, which experience had not taught the painter’.12 The Victorians took such beliefs even further; the art historian Claude Philips claimed in 1896 that Charles exhibited ‘the keenest and most intelligent connoisseurship’.13 It was an appealing myth of an enlightened painter-prince, which disguised Charles’s reliance on an extended network of fellow collectors, art dealers, agents and spies who were arguably more responsible for shaping the royal collection than its owner. From a young age, noblemen and courtiers close to Charles identified works he should admire and those – as a future king – he needed to buy as a way of conferring legitimacy on his rule. Charles was not born to be a collector; he was trained in its methods, techniques and rhetoric by a group of advisers and experts with vested interests in the king and his burgeoning collection.


Charles’s reliance on intermediaries was understandable. At the beginning of his reign, towns and cities like Antwerp and Haarlem in the Low Countries lay at the heart of the international art market. Here artists, merchants and aristocrats bought and sold art through public sales and auctions; paintings were subject to duties, and artists’ guilds provided their members with a level of social prestige and artistic autonomy unheard of in England. New artists and Old Masters came through the markets of the Low Countries, providing a bridge between Italian art and northern buyers.14 Charles had to delegate agents and dealers in the Low Countries to buy pictures and send them back to England. The seventeenth-century art market was a complicated, cut-throat business and monarchs like Charles were required to move money and large consignments of artworks across continents with the help of a bewildering network of financiers. The profits were significant, but so were the risks. If a consignment miscarried, a bill of exchange was dishonoured or an attribution queried, it could signal humiliation for the buyer and disaster for the dealer.


Although the financing of art purchases was complex, the sums involved were not as large as is often assumed. Painting was central to the king’s majesty, but that did not necessarily mean it was astronomically expensive. Estimates reveal that between 1625 and 1640 Charles spent less than £8,000 commissioning new paintings, and just over £2,000 on statues. The crown paid £18,000 for the more traditional medium of tapestry, belying the assumption that Charles remained at the cutting edge of artistic fashion. The purchase of the Mantuan collection for £18,000 was his most expensive block purchase of pictures, but this is hardly extravagant when set against the annual crown revenue of nearly £1 million. Charles and his retinue spent far larger sums on royal buildings, entertainment (including masques) and clothes. Royal courtiers could spend £500 on a fashionable suit appropriate for court appearances, but just £50 bought a full-length portrait by Van Dyck. Ideally, both were required, but these sums reveal that although art was highly valued, it was still not very valuable at King Charles’s court.15


The risks inherent in buying art did not prevent Charles from accepting the practice of betrayal, fraud and theft by his agents and dealers to ensure he got what he wanted. As a result some involved in the royal collection became very rich and influential; others found themselves bankrupt and destitute. The dangers were compounded by vague and shifting notions of what constituted the value and possession of art, since there were no internationally defined criteria by which works of art could be judged and given even a provisional financial value. Furthermore, as the financial market became ever-more reliant on bills of exchange and other forms of invisible, deferred payment, it was increasingly difficult to establish who owned particular artworks at different stages in their sale and acquisition. Did a buyer own a collection at the point at which the seller accepted a bid, when a bill of exchange was honoured or when the buyer finally took physical possession of his or her acquisition? With no recourse to internationally binding laws on such matters, disputes over possession of pictures and statues could often make or break a buyer’s reputation.


CHARLES I’S COLLECTION was created against the backdrop of one of Europe’s most bitter and internecine conflicts over religion and imperial authority, the Thirty Years War (1618–48). Like many other European sovereigns, Charles took full advantage of the conflict that engulfed the Low Countries, Italy and central Europe to acquire paintings and statues from kings, states and individuals ruined and bankrupted by war. But as he capitalized on the misfortune of his European neighbours and his collection grew under the watchful eye of van der Doort, political tensions were mounting in England that would lead other collectors to exploit his own downfall. From 1629, when Charles dismissed Parliament and embarked on over a decade of personal rule, many of the religious and political tensions that his father had skilfully managed to keep in check gradually pushed the country towards civil war. The gulf between the king’s particular version of the Anglican religious faith and the varieties of reforming Protestantism practised by many of his people led some of his political opponents to question the legitimacy of monarchy itself. The religious conflicts in Scotland and Ireland only magnified the king’s domestic problems, at a time when Parliament, hastily reconvened in 1640, censured him for undermining what they saw as their age-old rights to participate in the process of governance. By the time Charles left London in January 1642, intent on raising an army and declaring war on Parliament, the royal palaces at Whitehall, Greenwich, Hampton Court, Richmond and Windsor were crammed with thousands of precious treasures, many of them accumulated over the previous sixteen years of his reign – statues, drawings, medals, cameos, tapestries, rich furnishings and over 1,000 paintings.


Just seven years later Charles was dead, his wife and children were in exile or under arrest, and the precious art collection was on the verge of being sold off to the highest bidders. On 30 January 1649, after seven long, bitter years of political conflict and two periods of bloody civil war fought throughout the kingdoms of England, Scotland and Wales, Charles was taken under guard from his childhood home of St James’s and led to Whitehall, where he was beheaded outside Inigo Jones’s Banqueting House. Within days the new Parliament proclaimed itself a Commonwealth and drew up the Act for the Sale of the Late King’s Goods, which proposed to sell off Charles’s land, his property and his vast collection of art.


THE IMPLEMENTATION of the act was based on the completion of a series of inventories cataloguing the contents of the royal palaces, compiled by men of humble origin who owed their allegiance not to the king but to his parliament. If van der Doort’s inventory tells one side of the story of the formation of Charles’s vast collection, the Commonwealth inventories of the late king’s goods tell of its sale and dispersal from a very different political perspective.16 Parliament ordered everything to be listed and valued, not just pictures and statues but also beds and blankets, pots and pans, even the crown jewels. While van der Doort carefully inventoried painters, subjects, descriptions and dimensions of the royal art collection, the parliamentary officers briefly described the royal goods, adding in each case one crucial detail: its price. For the first time in their history, the English struggled to define a new vision of political life that judged its masters according to their financial and political worth, rather than their innate right to rule. Royalty was up for sale.


Over the next four years, merchants, drapers, glaziers, brewers, cutlers, widows and orphans across London bought or acquired objects from the royal collection. Parliament began by selling off some of the royal possessions, reserving part for their own purposes, and then gave away others in lieu of royal debts. For the first time ordinary people were able to buy, sell, admire and evaluate paintings that were never intended for their eyes, let alone their homes. Those dealers and agents involved in buying the collection for their masters acquired pictures and statues that in some cases portrayed them and their friends. Aristocratic collectors who switched political allegiance during the years of civil war bought pictures. Spanish and French diplomats acquired others for their royal masters with the connivance of Charles’s servants and members of the new regime. Others simply sold their pictures to the highest bidders in search of much-needed cash profits.


Like most of the royal collection, Van Dyck’s Charles I with M. de St Antoine was taken down from the gallery in St James’s by Parliament and put on sale in Somerset House. It was bought by a member of the public for £150 and then taken abroad to be sold on the international art market. The sale of paintings like this aimed to raise revenue for a new republican regime unsure of its own political survival. Predominantly monarchical and Catholic Europe reacted with horror to Charles’s execution and ostensibly supported plans by the dead king’s exiled son, Charles II, to regain his father’s crown. In response, Parliament sold off Charles’s collection with the initial aim of raising money for the navy, which faced the threat of various projected invasions from Ireland, Scotland, France and even the Low Countries.


The political symbolism of the sale was as important as the money it proposed to raise. By repossessing the royal estate and placing a monetary value on the king’s pictures, the new republican Commonwealth was deliberately devaluing the aura of monarchy, divesting it of the objects that defined its power and magnificence, and placing them in the public marketplace, to be valued, bought and sold by tradesmen and artisans. However, the monetary benefits from selling paintings and statues were pitifully small, especially when compared to the sale of land, or the levelling of fines against royalist supporters, the so-called ‘delinquents’. As the logistics of selling the royal collection increasingly frustrated the new Commonwealth, the symbolism of dismantling monarchy faded. Pragmatic republican leaders saw the opportunity of buying off its creditors by virtually giving the pictures away to a public disillusioned with the promises of a more just society. Others, most famously Oliver Cromwell, saw the advantages of retaining parts of the royal collection as a way of appropriating the authority they conferred upon their owners. With no tangible symbols to define the legitimacy of the new Commonwealth, objects from the dead king’s art collection were co-opted in the interests of a regime that remained ambivalent about the righteousness of its attempt to remove monarchy from the landscape of English political life.


Royalists and later historians of art were horrified at what they regarded as the sale’s cultural vandalism. Christopher Wren’s Parentalia lamented that, after the king’s execution and the public sale, ‘What follow’d was all darkness and obscurity.’17 Writing in 1685, after the restoration of King Charles II, William Aglionby angrily denounced the sale, insisting that ‘had not the bloody-principled zealots, who are enemies to all the innocent pleasures of life, under the pretext of a reformed sanctity, destroyed both the best of kings, and the noblest of courts, we might to this day have seen these arts flourish amongst us’. By this time Charles I was already being recast as a saint and martyr of the royalist cause, a connoisseur before his time whose death at the hands of iconoclastic philistines ended the brief flowering of aesthetic taste in England. Charles ‘had once enrich’d our island with the noblest collection that any prince out of Italy could boast of; but those barbarous rebels, whose quarrel was as much to politeness and the liberal arts, as to monarchy and prelacy, dissipated and destroyed the best part of it’.18 It was an understandably partisan perspective, but one which has been largely accepted ever since.


Aglionby failed to mention that by the time he wrote much of the royal collection was back in the royal household, the result of a remarkable process of cultural and political restitution carried out in the early years of the Restoration. Pictures like Charles I with M. de St Antoine were forcibly repossessed and returned to the royal galleries, which were further bolstered by gifts offered to the new king, as well as more questionable acquisitions taken from individuals unfortunate enough to suffer visits from the Restoration’s repossession men. As the pictures returned, so their meanings changed. Under Charles I, Van Dyck’s equestrian portrait expressed the king’s absolute majesty and authority, but under Charles II it became a poignant image of the dead king’s martyrdom, and the new king’s filial piety.


Those who shared Aglionby’s political and artistic viewpoint also ignored the fact that, as well as funding the parliamentary navy, the sale was also established to settle debts incurred by Charles I, which were paid in cash or objects including pictures. This was doomed to fail once corrupt officials and former royal servants, many involved in the original acquisition of the collection, grasped how to manipulate the sale’s loopholes. Nonetheless, the sale did transform public attitudes towards the value of art. Although Charles I had bought paintings from international art dealers, most had gone straight into the privacy of the royal palaces, where to speak of their monetary value was vulgar and beneath the dignity of the crown. The Commonwealth sale changed all that. In just a few weeks it transformed what were untouchable royal art objects into commodities to be traded and exchanged between public creditors, radically altering public perceptions of the role of art and the nature of taste in seventeenth-century English life. It would then prove impossible to go back to a situation where artistic patronage and collecting were the exclusive preserve of the king and his courtiers.


The sale created an artificial art market, a kind of tournament through which the act of exchange defined the value of particular art objects.19 Buyers valued pictures based on a series of highly specific criteria: who the previous owner was; where it was displayed; whether there was a secondary market for a particular image. The Commonwealth sale put a price on monarchy and gave birth to the art market in England by creating the conditions for a secondary market in pictures and stimulating a broader public exposure to art. With the Restoration in 1660, auction houses began buying and selling pictures because of the lucrative possibilities of trafficking established by this. Public taste and demand began to define the public English market in art, displacing the patronage of the king’s court.


WHILE KING CHARLES’S death became the stuff of grand public tragedy, van der Doort’s demise had its own tragic aspect. In June 1640 the Dutchman took his own life, hanging himself in his house in St Martin’s Lane. His contemporaries laid the blame for his death at the door of the king’s art collection. One friend claimed that he ‘was jealous the king had designed some other man to keep his pictures’.20 Others feared that a distraught van der Doort had lost one of the royal portraits in his care.21 Whatever the truth of the keeper’s death, it seems to have been closely related to his troubled stewardship.


The gallery van der Doort walked through in 1639 presented a scene of triumph and grandeur, a vivid testament to the power of King Charles I. By 1649 the same rooms were testament to the catastrophically bad judgement of a king whose fall echoed the apocalyptic scenes of biblical chaos, warfare and the death of kings that lined its walls. Many of the collection’s contemporary portraits represented individuals who were dead or in exile. With Charles and van der Doort dead, and Parliament drawing up terms for the removal and sale of the royal possessions, the gallery was marked for dispersal. What followed has been called the sale of the century: a story of the disposal of a priceless royal art collection told against the backdrop of civil war and regicide.22 At the centre of it all, both subject and object of these extraordinary events, hung the pictures themselves. Great paintings always disclose more than their owners or even their makers wish to reveal. Nowhere is this truer than with the art collection of King Charles I.




CHAPTER ONE


DEATH OF A PRINCE


It was on 1 November 1612 that the eleven-year-old Prince Charles Stuart took the short journey from Whitehall to St James’s Palace to see Henry, Prince of Wales, for the last time. He knew that his elder brother, the heir to the throne, was afflicted with a terrible sickness and now lay dying. The news had come as a terrible shock to his family and the people of London. It was widely assumed that Henry would eventually accede to the English throne. His precocious intelligence and athleticism had endeared him to both the royal court and the public, leading Sir Francis Bacon to observe that ‘the excellence of his disposition excited high expectations among great numbers of all ranks’.1


Henry’s youth and promise were vital assets to his father, King James VI of Scotland, in his negotiations to assume the English crown following the death of Elizabeth I. Elizabeth died childless and, with no obvious heir, her Scottish cousin James Stuart was seen by many as the only acceptable successor. He had the advantage of being a Protestant with two male heirs: Henry and Charles. While some figures at the English court had misgivings about handing over the English throne to a Scot, their anxieties were partly assuaged by the prospect of an English-trained prince eventually assuming the crown. Henry spent the hot summer of 1612 swimming, running and riding. In mid-October he complained ‘of a small kind of giddy lumpish heaviness in his forehead’2 while playing tennis. The following Sunday he was confined to bed. The next day ‘his Highness was without any fever, rose and played after dinner with [Charles] the Duke of York’. Unfortunately his symptoms soon returned. His father was informed and the doctors diagnosed ‘a corrupt, putred feaver’. James sent for the eminent French physician Theodore de Mayerne to tend his son, but his treatment only hastened the prince’s decline. Mayerne administered a purgative including rhubarb which ‘brought away great store of putred choler, and in the end phlegm, the urine inclining somewhat towards concoction’. Rather unsurprisingly, ‘his Highness after the working thereof, found not the ease that was expected’. Once Henry slipped into delirium, Mayerne summoned the king and warned him to expect the worst.


As concern grew for the young prince, people ‘did almost every hour send unto St James’s for News’.3 On the afternoon of 1 November King James arrived at St James’s with Henry’s mother, Queen Anna, his younger sister the fifteen-year old Elizabeth, and his little brother, Charles. The family meeting was private and no record remains of what transpired. What is known is that before making the short journey from Whitehall to St James’s, Prince Charles ordered courtiers to ride to Richmond Palace, Henry’s residence outside London. They were instructed to remove one of Henry’s most precious possessions, a collection of bronze statuettes, and bring them back to Whitehall. When the statuettes arrived, Charles chose a tiny, delicately crafted pacing horse, made of bronze and designed by the renowned sculptor Giovanni Bologna. It was part of a consignment of paintings and statuettes presented to Henry by the Duchy of Tuscany in the hope that he would look favourably upon marriage with the sister of the grand duke, Cosimo de’ Medici. Oblivious to its political significance, Charles headed off with the bronze horse towards St James’s Palace.


As Henry’s family were ushered into his chamber that evening, the king sermonized at length while his wife and daughter wept. Finally, Charles stepped forward and pressed the statuette into his dying brother’s hands. It was small enough to grasp in one hand, a sentimental toy passed from one child to another as consolation in the face of death. But Charles’s gift was more than that: it was also a defining moment for the future king. Throughout his young life Charles had been in the shadow of his elder, charismatic brother. As the second-born son, he seemed destined to live the life of an eternal prince, doomed to watch from the wings as his brother assumed the title King Henry IX. The afternoon of 1 November changed all that, and as the future of England passed from the dying Henry into the hands of his younger brother, the moment was marked by the presentation of a piece of art. The gift came to personify the seductive power as well as the dangerous mortality that art represented throughout Charles’s subsequent reign.


The moment stayed with Charles all his life. Years later, he recounted the story to Abraham van der Doort as he catalogued the royal art collection. Coming across the Bologna statuette, van der Doort as entered it as ‘a little horse being one of the number of 18 which your Majesty did send for to Richmond in the last sickness time and there your Majesty gave it with your own hands to the Prince’.4 The statuette was a poignant commemoration of the king’s dead brother, but it also acted as an abiding testament to the fact that it was Charles and not Henry who now assumed the mantle of sovereign-in-waiting.


Within a week of this exchange, Henry was dead. The prince had rapidly declined into ‘greater Alienations of Brain, Ravings and idle speeches out of purpose . . . to the great grief of all that heard him, whose hopes now began to vanish’.5 Mayerne had resorted to ever more bizarre measures to revive him, including ‘a Cock [which] was cloven by the Back, and applied unto the soles of his Feet, but in vain’.6 This was designed to draw evil humours down Henry’s body and out of his feet, but the grotesque indignity can only have added to the prince’s terrible suffering. Debilitated by fever and fatally weakened by Mayerne’s desperate methods, Henry finally passed away just before 8 a.m. on the morning of 6 November.


There was a spontaneous outpouring of grief at the news. One of Henry’s courtiers lamented the loss of ‘the Delight of Mankind, the Expectation of Nations, the Strength of his Father, and Glory of his Mother, Religion’s second Hope’.7 For the family, the anguish was deeply personal. Queen Anna would not receive condolences regarding Henry’s death ‘because she cannot bear to hear it mentioned’.8 James was deeply affected: ‘even in the midst of the most important discussions he will burst out with “Henry is dead, Henry is dead” ’. Young Prince Charles was also dreadfully distressed, showing ‘a grief beyond his years’.9 With the death of his elder brother, the delicate young prince was suddenly thrust into the political spotlight as the heir to the English throne. He needed to grow up quickly.


His first opportunity came just one month later, on a chilly December morning, when he took his place as chief mourner at Henry’s funeral. London had not seen such an overwhelming display of public grief since the interment of Elizabeth I nine years earlier. In many ways Henry’s death was even more poignant. The young prince had been struck down in his prime, aged just eighteen, full of unfulfilled potential, and spared the inevitable compromise and criticism that come with high office. It took the 2,000 official mourners that followed his body to Westminster Abbey nearly four hours to clear St James’s. The procession was composed of all levels of London society, from masters of the bedchamber and members of the Privy Council to priests, grooms, pages and the thirty-one artists formerly employed by Henry. At the head of the procession came Prince Charles, chief mourner in the traditional absence of his father. As the chariot made its way along Whitehall, it was followed by extraordinary scenes of ‘lamentation and sorrow, some weeping, crying, swooning, sighing inwardly, others halt dead, others holding up their hands, passionately bewailing so great a loss’.10 Once the cortège was installed in Westminster Abbey the archbishop stepped forward and preached his sermon. Amid ‘an Ocean of tears’,11 members of Henry’s court then stepped forward to resign by breaking their rods of office over the coffin.


Henry’s funeral was the dramatic finale to a short but brilliant career characterized by a cultivation of theatre and art. Perhaps the most striking moment in the whole carefully choreographed event was the public display of a wax effigy of the prince that lay upon the funeral chariot, designed by none other than Abraham van der Doort. The effigy was ‘made up as like him as possible could be’,12 dressed in the prince’s coronet, cap, sword, silk tunic and breeches, flesh-coloured stockings and black shoes. Even in death, Henry struck an artful pose. The intoxicating mix of art, death, youth and royal power proved irresistible to artists and writers. The finest poets and dramatists of the Jacobean age ‘rained tears of black ink’ over the demise of the young prince. John Webster, author of The Duchess of Malfi, penned an elegy on Henry’s death, lamenting, ‘The greatest of the kingly race is gone.’13 John Donne wrote an ‘Elegy upon the Untimely Death of the Incomparable Prince Henry’, questioning the mysteries of divine providence in robbing the world of ‘This soul of peace’.14 As praise rained down on Henry from all sides, the grieving heir to the throne watched and listened.


Henry’s death proved a turning point in the political and artistic history of the Stuart age in England. Over the following months and years the intricate world of political alliances James I had built around the assumption of the prince’s eventual accession to the throne slowly but surely unravelled, and Henry’s patronage of the arts came to an abrupt end. The consequences of his death would play themselves out over the next fifteen years.


KING JAMES VI of Scotland had come to the throne in 1603 faced with an English nation beset by plague, famine and international isolation. He had spent his last years as king of Scotland fending off kidnap and assassination attempts, and trying to limit the financial demands his wife, Queen Anna of Denmark, was making on his cash-strapped kingdom. It was no surprise that when the English Secretary of State, Sir Robert Cecil, opened negotiations with James to succeed Elizabeth, he jumped at the opportunity. He inherited a domestic and foreign policy from Elizabeth based on splendid but dangerous isolation from an overwhelmingly Catholic Europe, which was effectively controlled by the twin centres of Habsburg imperial power, Vienna and Madrid. James wanted to be a player in the world of European power politics and the only way to achieve this was to make peace with Spain.


In June 1604 James invited a Spanish delegation to London to establish terms and restore relations with Catholic Europe. The English wanted open trade with Spain and her colonies in the New World. The Spanish demanded an end to England’s financial and military support for the Protestant states in the Low Countries, which the Spanish Habsburg Empire still claimed as its own. Religion also proved a stumbling block. The English delegation demanded freedom from the religious prescriptions of the Spanish Inquisition, while the Spanish insisted on the right of all English Catholics to worship free of persecution. Tensions rose during negotiations held at Somerset House when the Spanish delegation insisted ‘that all trade between England and the States [General of the Dutch Republic] should cease, for the Dutch drew large profits from the English market for their tapestries, cloth, tweeds and so on’.15 Mischievously seating the Spanish delegation beneath a Flemish tapestry during their talks can not have helped matters.


By August the two sides had agreed terms. The impact on English cultural life was profound and immediate. Ever since Henry VIII’s split from the Catholic Church in the 1530s, Englishmen had been forbidden to travel in Catholic Europe. Now James began appointing resident English ambassadors across Europe, while young Englishmen set out to experience the art, culture and learning of the Catholic cities of Rome, Florence, Venice and Madrid. Peace meant that these travellers no longer incurred the suspicion of the Protestant authorities back home, nor (as long as they were careful) the wrath of the Catholic Church abroad. Throughout its political and religious isolation, England had taken cultural and artistic inspiration from the Low Countries, missing out on the final flowering of the high European Renaissance and the artistic achievements of artists and architects like Michelangelo, Raphael, Titian and Palladio. It was now time to catch up.


As England settled into peace with Europe, the country also adjusted to life under a new royal dynasty. Throughout the fraught years of Queen Elizabeth’s childless rule, the English had craved a ‘normal’ royal family, composed of kings, queens, princes, princesses and heirs. Married to a relatively young wife and blessed with two sons and one daughter, King James seemed the ideal solution to England’s dynastic problems. In fact, what the English got was a royal family with a vengeance: a dysfunctional collection of physically unprepossessing individuals united through jealousy, infidelity, sibling rivalry and mutual suspicion.


James had been married for fourteen politically turbulent years to Anna, the daughter of King Frederick II of Denmark. Anna had borne James three children: Henry, the eldest, in 1594, followed two years later by his sister, Elizabeth, and in November 1600 by a second son, Charles. Unfortunately Charles was such a sickly child that he was immediately baptized for fear that he would die. In the summer of 1603, Anna followed James to take up the throne of England, bringing with her his heir, Prince Henry. Fear for his health meant that Charles remained behind in Scotland.


The little prince, not yet three years old, was left in the care of Alexander Seton, Lord Fyvie, while the rest of his family began to settle into their new royal life in London. Fyvie reported that Charles was still unable to walk or talk from ‘the great weakness of his body, after so long and heavy sickness’.16 By the summer of 1604, James dispatched an English doctor and apothecary to bring his son to London. Potential carers were put off once they saw ‘how weak a child he was, and not likely to live’.17 Charles’s English guardian was also sceptical about his future, complaining, ‘he was not able to go, nor scant stand alone, he was so weak in his joints, and especially his ankles, insomuch as many feared they were out of joint’.18 Many years later, one of Charles’s first biographers, Hamon L’Estrange, echoed these fears, claiming that the young prince ‘was exceeding feeble in his lower parts, his legs growing not erect, but rapandous and embowed’.19


Contemporary miniatures of Charles capture the likeness of a sickly, withdrawn boy whose nervous gaze, delicate features and waxen pallor speak volumes of a childhood characterized by illness and loneliness. James suggested increasingly bizarre solutions to his son’s physical infirmities, including iron boots to strengthen his legs and cutting the string beneath his tongue to prevent his growing stammer. Charles responded by talking with pebbles in his mouth in a fruitless attempt to control the impediment.


By the end of 1605, however, Charles’s health was sufficiently improved for him to be invested as Duke of York in the old Elizabethan Banqueting House in Whitehall. After the solemnities the court was treated to a masque, a wildly fashionable new theatrical entertainment. The royal family were fortunate in having the choreographer and architect Inigo Jones and the dramatist and poet Ben Jonson at their disposal. Both set to work on a new masque to be performed on Twelfth Night, 1605, at a staggering cost of £4,000.20 The performance was entitled The Masque of Blackness, and featured Anna herself, blacked up and dressed in exotic costume. The four-year-old Charles watched as his mother emerged from a scalloped shell and proceeded to sing and dance in front of the king and his court. The masque was followed by a typically lavish Jacobean banquet that ended suddenly as the ravenous guests ‘furiously assaulted’ the tables piled high with food, with the result ‘that down went table and tresses before one bit was touched’.21 Once again the young Charles found himself overshadowed by the flamboyant activities of his immediate family.


James was eager to place his Stuart mark on the English monarchy, and one way to do this was to commission and display portraits of his family. However, the society that the Stuarts inherited from Elizabeth was deeply ambivalent about painting and the visual arts. Since the days of Henry VIII, the Tudors had moved carefully between the use of visual iconography to display their royal power and a clear rejection of such idolatry as ‘popish’ and antithetical to Protestant belief. Many Protestants argued that Catholicism confused the worship of God with the worship of his image in paintings, statues and tapestries. In an attempt to reach a compromise, the Elizabethans made a clear distinction between images used for religious purposes and those created for a secular, domestic situation. The Elizabethan Book of Homilies stressed that ‘Neither do we condemn the arts of painting and image-making, as wicked of themselves.’22


Nevertheless, the language associated with art and painting by Elizabethan writers was predominantly negative. Portraits were seen as ‘counterfeits’, women’s use of cosmetics to ‘paint’ their faces was condemned as ‘artifice’, and poets including Shakespeare worried over the ‘cunning’, deceitful illusion of reality created by the skilful painter.23 The importation of pictures from abroad was officially illegal, based on legislation dating back to the fifteenth century.24 The penal laws of 1571 also forbade the importation of ‘crosses, pictures . . . and other superstitious objects from Rome’, although this was primarily aimed at outlawing Catholic liturgical objects like rosaries and breviaries. Neverthless, it hardly created an atmosphere conducive to the flourishing of the visual arts.25


If late Elizabethan London lacked a reputation for its artistic culture, it was nonetheless beginning to establish itself as an international capital after decades of diplomatic isolation. The city that James inherited from Elizabeth was gradually asserting itself as one of the largest in Europe: around 7 per cent of the population of England lived in London, with 200,000 people crammed into settlements to the south and west of the ancient walls of the City. The City itself, stretching from Blackfriars in the west to the Tower in the east, was the commercial heartland. Its maze of streets with their timber-framed houses was home to the City’s thriving domestic trades – blacksmiths, grocers, bakers, ironmongers, weavers, skinners, cloth-workers – all spilling out on to the Thames and its busy commercial traffic that connected London’s port to the rest of the world. Straddling the river stood the medieval stone edifice of London Bridge, a chaotic mix of shops, houses and streams of livestock making their way into the City or south towards Southwark, where, by 1600, 10 per cent of London’s population lived. Southwark was the vibrant, polluted and dangerous home to London’s theatres, bear gardens, bull-baiting pits, bowling alleys and brothels, far from Westminster, back on the other side of the river, the political and aristocratic heart of London, with its imposing palace, abbey and the king’s Whitehall residence.


One of the most noticeable features of James’s capital was its remarkably cosmopolitan community of foreigners and immigrants. Over 7,000 economic migrants and religious refugees from the Low Countries, France, Italy and North Africa all lived and worked in Southwark and parishes in the heart of the City. From the 1560s onwards, many Protestant artists and craftsmen suffering religious persecution in the Spanish-controlled Low Countries sought refuge in England, settling in London suburbs and districts like Cripplegate, Holborn and Blackfriars, where they could work outside the City’s regulations without the need to join a London guild or company.26 By the time James’s advisers realized the need for a state portrait of the new king, there were over 100 painters to choose from among the ranks of London’s talented émigré community. The man chosen for this prestigious task was John de Critz, the descendant of immigrants from Antwerp.27


De Critz completed his portrait of James around 1606. It was an immediate success, and was quickly copied and circulated among the king’s subjects and allies. But it also revealed some of the personal and political problems that would handicap the new king throughout his reign. Physically awkward and deeply insecure from years of turbulent rule in Scotland, James was a pedantic king more comfortable with the written word than the painted image, and this reticence comes across in de Critz’s portrait. He wears the ostentatious attire admired by the Venetian ambassador during his first audience with the new king, who reported that James ‘was dressed in grey silver satin’ with ‘a chain of diamonds around his neck and a great diamond in his hat’.28 A slightly bowlegged figure warily gazes out from the picture. He wears a sullen, aloof expression, his hand casually but unconvincingly placed on his hip, his rakishly tilted hat with its enormous brooch and bejewelled St George medallion slung across his chest, striking an inappropriately flamboyant image in a portrait intended to convey a majestic authority.


James’s discomfort with portraiture was thrown into even starker relief by the ability of his precocious son to adapt quickly to the medium as a way of establishing himself as heir to the throne. Henry was depicted as a vigorous, athletic prince, riding, hunting and confidently striking a military pose. The contrast between king and prince was heightened by their choice of portrait painters. James opted for a safe, cosmopolitan, established artist like de Critz, while Henry more confidently chose Robert Peake, an Englishman who had flourished during Elizabeth’s reign. Henry was so impressed with the painter’s work that he made him his personal portrait painter, leading to his appointment as Serjeant-Painter alongside de Critz.29


Young, gifted and uncompromisingly Protestant, Prince Henry represented a new generation of Englishmen eager to establish their country’s political authority within the world of European imperial politics. This new generation represented a direct challenge to his father, with his more cautious, diplomatically concessive policy towards the Catholic powers of Europe, and especially Spain. Although James presided over a notoriously decadent and immoral court, he was a shrewd politician, anxious to avoid involvement in the financially ruinous religious wars of the late sixteenth century. However, he soon found himself trying to reign in the more bellicose and strongly Protestant policies advocated by his own son’s household in St James’s Palace. Henry’s court quickly became a magnet for politically ambitious young men from aristocratic families eager for military adventure abroad. The many ‘young and sprightly blossoms’30 that flourished around Henry included Robert Devereux, 3rd Earl of Essex, William Cecil, Lord Cranbourne and Thomas Cecil, Earl of Exeter. These men represented the politically powerful Cecil clan, who remained loyal to Elizabeth during the Essex conspiracy and were instrumental in ensuring James’s smooth accession in 1603. Other members of Henry’s circle included Sir John Harington, Sir John Dallington, Robert Kerr (later 1st Earl of Ancram) and two men who would come to play a crucial part in the future of art collecting in England, Sir John Danvers and Thomas Howard, Earl of Arundel.31 They were all united by their unusual experience of continental travel. Most received official licences permitting them to go abroad, pursuing an itinerary that usually included France, Germany and Italy, embarking on what later generations would see as an essential part of a wealthy Englishman’s education, and which would come to be known as the Grand Tour.


An older generation of predominantly Catholic figures also exercised a significant influence over Henry’s interest in the arts. The most prominent was John, Lord Lumley. The Catholic Lumley was briefly imprisoned in the Tower after his implication in plots to overthrow Elizabeth and turned his disappointment in public life into an immersion in intellectual and artistic pursuits.32 He accumulated one of the finest art collections of his day. At his death in 1609 he owned 288 pictures, of which over half were portraits (186 in all), many of the leading figures in the violent history of Tudor England. The jewel of the collection was ‘A great book of Pictures done by Hans Holbein of certain ladies, gentlemen and gentlewomen in King Henry VIII his time’. The gallery in Lumley Castle held ninety-one portraits, ranging from King Richard II to Queen Elizabeth.33 It celebrated the prominent figures of the Elizabethan age, as well as more controversial ones, including Catholics put to death for challenging the Tudor regime – Sir Thomas More, the poet Sir Thomas Wyatt and Mary Queen of Scots. The last of these was a particularly ambiguous portrait for Lumley to possess. Having once flirted with supporting Mary’s attempt to depose Queen Elizabeth, he later sat as a commissioner at her trial in a bid for political rehabilitation. Alongside figures like Mary hung more prominent Catholics, including the Habsburg emperor Charles V, his son King Philip of Spain and ‘Franciscus Xavierus first of the Jesuits which brought the Christian faith unto ye Indians’. Perhaps most important of all for Lumley were the sixty-seven pictures ‘of Christ, our Ladie and his Saints’ listed in his inventory. Even Pope Julius II made it on to the walls of Lumley’s packed gallery.


Lumley led the way in England in the relatively new fashion for displaying pictures in private galleries. Sixteenth-century collectors across Europe were only slowly beginning to make a clear separation between the display of fine art (paintings, sculptures and drawings) and other precious objects. The principles of the Italian studiolo and the German Wunderkammer stressed the arrangement of rich, diverse, exotic objects in one small room. There was little distinction between statues, paintings, manuscripts, coins, mechanical devices, natural objects and rare animals within such collections. Late sixteenth-century Europe boasted nearly 1,000 notable collections of such marvels, reflecting the curiosity of their owners and a desire to classify a rapidly expanding world that would ultimately lead to the creation of the great modern museums of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries.34


To own such marvellous curiosities was to possess arcane knowledge of the natural and spiritual world, as in the case of Emperor Rudolf II and his vast collection, or the supernatural powers invested in Shakespeare’s Prospero and his magical books in The Tempest. However, as such collections grew increasingly large and bizarre, many northern European rulers and noblemen turned to the creation of Bilderkammern, or picture galleries, as a more eloquent expression of their magnificence and discernment. As rich and strange curiosities became the provenance of scholars working in medicine and the natural sciences, so the collecting of paintings, sculptures and drawings became the preserve of nobles like Lumley.35


This shift towards displaying pictures within galleries also influenced the architecture of English Tudor homes. The early sixteenth-century ‘long gallery’ was originally a long hall without chambers overlooking a courtyard, and primarily designated as a place for exercise and recreation. Its design responded to a more outward-looking Tudor architectural style, as houses were no longer built according to the requirements of heavy fortification. Such galleries were usually built on first or second floors, often overlooking great halls, and acted as transitional spaces between public rooms and private apartments.36


With the rise of enthusiastic builders and collectors like Lord Lumley, galleries became obvious spaces in which to display portraits of friends and family. Viscount Howard of Bindon wrote in 1609 about ‘[t]he gallery I lately made for the pictures of sundry of my honoured friends, whose presentation thereby to behold will greatly delight me to walk often in that place where I may see so comfortable a sight’.37 He exemplified the growing Jacobean fashion for using the gallery as a place for exercise, social dialogue and the display of collections of pictures. But as a liminal, internal place containing curious images, the gallery was also regarded as an enchanting but illicit space where political and even sexual intrigue flourished. In Ben Jonson’s The Alchemist the venal Sir Epicure Mammon fantasizes about mirrored oval rooms filled with sexually explicit pictures, while the satirist John Marston associated the importing of Venetian pictures with the purchase of prostitutes, poisons, cosmetics and other ‘strange luxuries’. In a gallery courtiers could refashion their social and political standing, even if the fantasy of grandeur displayed there was at variance with political reality.


This is exactly how Lumley used the space of the gallery. In withdrawing from public life because of his Catholicism, he fashioned a world that re-created his standing as a powerful nobleman, able to stress his links to royal power and authority, while also affirming his religion in more private, withdrawn spaces. Other figures on the margins of the Elizabethan court were more robust in using their picture collections to unite their public and private worlds. Henry Howard, Earl of Northampton, was another member of the Catholic Howard clan who experienced the vicissitudes of Tudor political life. Both his father and his brother were executed for treason, and Northampton spent most of Elizabeth’s reign living his life, according to one observer, ‘as a man obscured, or rather neglected’,38 subject to repeated surveillance and periods of imprisonment.


However, Northampton enthusiastically aided Cecil’s plans for James’s accession. For his efforts James appointed him Privy Councillor and Northampton quickly sought the cultural and artistic trappings befitting a man undergoing his sudden rise in social stature. He bought properties on the Strand and in Greenwich, where he spent £2,000 on a fashionable brick residence, insisting that his neighbour Simon Basil, Surveyor of the King’s Works, demolish a wing of his own house as it obscured Northampton’s view.39


By the time of his death in 1614, Northampton had amassed one of the finest collections in London. Stepping into his official residence of Northampton House, guests would be shown along the earl’s Little Gallery, containing thirty-one portraits of family, friends and close political allies, living and dead.40 Moving through the Long Gallery, visitors could see a range of religious paintings, including portraits of St Francis and ‘Christ holding the Cross’.41 The portraits that hung alongside these images made Northampton’s religious allegiances very clear, and included three portraits of Mary Queen of Scots, and a portrait of Mary Tudor, the last Catholic queen of England.


If allowed access to Northampton’s more private rooms, visitors could inspect even more religious paintings. In the Long Wardrobe he displayed a remarkable ‘arched folding picture with a golden fountain in the middle and our Saviour issuing blood there into’,42 a devotional triptych of the type found in Catholic churches. But Northampton never forgot his political allies; the Wardrobe also contained more portraits of Mary Queen of Scots, and Lord Treasurer Burghley, the father of Robert Cecil, Earl of Salisbury.


As if to confirm the permeable boundaries between the public and private worlds of Northampton’s life, the inventory of his household stuff lists three pictures in his bedchamber: ‘one is of the Passion, another of the King [James], and the third of the Queen his mother [Mary], all three with taffeta curtains’.43 As with Lumley, Northampton’s collection combined intimate religious observance with more public statements of political allegiance. The earl clearly loved his pictures, but they also functioned as a very concrete statement of his wealth and political power right at the heart of the new Jacobean state.


Northampton’s collection of 176 pictures was one of the largest in England and reflected the gradual shift in taste that took place in early seventeenth-century London. It included fourteen anonymous Venetian pictures in his Greenwich gallery, one of the earliest acquisitions of Venetian paintings by a private English collector. Unlike Lumley, Northampton prominently displayed his explicitly Catholic collection next door to the centre of power in Whitehall. This was as much a political as an aesthetic decision: Northampton was taking advantage of James I’s religious tolerance, and staking his claim as a statesman as well as a collector. He was also turning his back on the Tudor regime that had turned against him. Neither Henry VIII nor Elizabeth I was to be found on Northampton’s walls, which were instead lined with portraits of King James, Prince Henry and the new Jacobean elite, as well as religious pictures intended to appeal to both Catholics and fellow collectors, regardless of their religious or political persuasions.


Northampton’s collection lacked one particularly prominent member of the new Stuart dynasty: the queen. The omission of a portrait of Queen Anna from his gallery highlighted the disdain with which many of James’s entourage regarded the queen. Since his accession, James had transformed the Elizabethan court into an exclusively male domain. This included the king’s bedchamber, which was run by young, mainly Scottish noblemen who controlled all access to James and took responsibility for every aspect of the king’s life, however intimate. As a result, Anna found herself increasingly estranged from her husband. Contemporaries as well as subsequent historians, most of them men, have unfairly dismissed her as a frivolous, pleasure-seeking queen, preferring instead either the iconic authority of her predecessor Elizabeth or the sophistication of her successor, Henrietta Maria. One contemporary historian damned her with faint praise by remarking, ‘Nothing could be fixed upon her that left any great impression.’44


Faced with the obstacle of a male-dominated court and an increasingly aloof husband, Anna responded by exerting her authority on the royal topography of London, overseeing a series of costly and ambitious architectural renovations to her various residences. This began with Oatlands Palace near Weybridge, the first home to Anna and the young Prince Henry. She also received the rights to Greenwich Palace, authorizing Inigo Jones to spend £4,000 on the creation of the Queen’s House, which still stands to this day.45 Her architectural spending spree culminated in £34,000 spent on major renovations to Somerset House on the Strand. First founded by Lord Protector Somerset in 1549, the residence passed into the crown’s hands after Somerset’s fall from grace and subsequent execution in 1552. Elizabeth I lived there until her royal accession. The residence was renamed Denmark House in 1617, in honour of King James’s queen, and provided a location for the masquing that became a feature of the Stuart court, as well as two new galleries for the queen to display her growing collection of pictures. These architectural additions would make her residence the ideal location for the sale of her youngest son’s art collection thirty years later.46


As Anna’s relations with James and his court deteriorated, her collection expanded and her manipulation of portraiture deepened. Traditionally, queens were painted showing their left side, so that their pictures could be displayed facing their husband’s portrait. In later years Anna only allowed herself to be painted with her right side facing the viewer, literally turning her back on artistic convention, as well as her husband. She commissioned large portraits stressing her personal independence, culminating in Paul Van Somer’s portrait painted in 1617. Anna strikes a relaxed, confident pose, dressed for the hunt, surrounded by the trappings of the landed English gentlewoman – Arab horses, Italian greyhounds (wearing monogrammed ‘Queen Anna’ collars) and a fashionable black servant. In the background stands her favourite residence of Oatlands, rebuilt by Inigo Jones. Van Somer borrowed from earlier portraits of Prince Henry hunting and on horseback to capture the queen’s love of display and determined independence. If contemporary accounts of her were anything to go by, Van Somer also captured her likeness; one Venetian visitor described Anna after the portrait was completed, noting, ‘Her face is somewhat long, but very majestic. She has fine eyes and a rather hooked nose, though in every respect graceful.’47


For Anna, collecting and commissioning pictures were attempts to reassert her diminishing royal authority, but they also commemorated the people taken away from her. Anna left her family in Denmark at the age of fifteen and one of her only ways of remembering them was through their portraits. Her collection grew significantly after the death of Prince Henry, whose pictures she inherited, and this loss was compounded by the departure of Princess Elizabeth less than two years later, following her marriage to Prince Frederick, Elector Palatinate. Anna’s collection also reflected her changing attitude towards religion. It was rumoured at court that she was becoming increasingly sympathetic to Catholicism and she certainly owned a substantial number of devotional images, religious pictures and the paraphernalia of Catholic worship.48


Other collecting rivals, including the most powerful of all James’s courtiers, Cecil, Lord Salisbury, noticed Anna’s preferences for pictures over people. In November 1611 Jane Drummond, Anna’s lady-in-waiting, wrote to Salisbury to inform him:




I acquainted her Majesty with what your lordship wrote of her loving no body, but dead pictures in a paltry Gallery. Her Majesty commanded me to return this answer that she is more contented amongst those harmless pictures in the paltry Gallery than your lordship is with your employments in fair rooms all things considered.49





Salisbury’s observation captured Anna’s withdrawal into her picture galleries as a consolation against the recurrent disappointments of public life. Nevertheless, it was a devastatingly callous remark in the light of the recent death of Prince Henry. As ever, Anna’s response was sharp and to the point: paintings, she implied, were as harmless and meaningless as Salisbury’s own immersion in the world of Jacobean power politics, enacted inside the ‘fair rooms’ of Whitehall.


A consummate politician under Elizabeth, Cecil had been made Earl of Salisbury and Lord Treasurer as a reward for engineering James’s accession to the throne. The diminutive Salisbury soon made himself indispensable to James, who affectionately referred to him as ‘my little beagle’.50 He was horrified at the court’s profligacy and spent his later years trying to rein in the royal finances. Nowhere was this more imperative than in the case of Queen Anna’s expenditure on masques, jewels and pictures – which probably explains his dig at her ‘dead pictures in a paltry Gallery’.


The irony was that the financially prudent Cecil was the most lavish of all the patrons of the arts at James’s court. Like Northampton and Anna, he spent a fortune developing new residences at Hatfield House in Hertfordshire and Salisbury House on the Strand. The costs were so great that he complained that architecture was a vice that ‘hath almost undone me’.51 Cecil’s picture collections at Hatfield House and Salisbury House soon dwarfed those of Northampton.52 While collectors like Lumley and Anna used their pictures to express their religion and lineage, Cecil used his collection to define and extend his influence as a pre-eminent statesman. New pictures were bought and others moved down to London from his country residence in Hatfield. As in the case of Northampton, many were portraits, although unlike Northampton’s collection, Cecil’s was more orthodox: King James took pride of place, as did Queen Anna and Princess Elizabeth, as well as the Tudor monarchs who originally elevated Cecil’s family. But there were also religious paintings, landscapes, mythological scenes and historical paintings.53


Salisbury held one crucial advantage over his other collecting rivals. As Secretary of State he was responsible for recommending international diplomatic appointments, which gave him unrivalled access to information on the latest artistic developments throughout Europe. One figure he came to rely on above all others in artistic matters was his man in Venice, Sir Henry Wotton. Seventeenth-century diplomacy was a shady and often precarious profession, and Wotton was one of its more urbane and colourful practitioners. He infamously claimed ‘An ambassador is an honest man sent to lie abroad for the good of his country.’54 Despite such indiscretions, with the accession of James I Cecil saw Wotton as the perfect ambassador to England’s anti-Spanish ally, Venice. Upon arriving in Venice in 1604, Wotton began a stream of diplomatic letters to Salisbury describing the colourfully ceremonial world of Venetian politics. They paint a vivid picture of Wotton’s involvement in delicate matters including English pirates marauding in the Mediterranean, deteriorating relations between Venice and the papacy, ham-fisted attempts to create Anglo-Venetian alliances, and a series of bizarre plots ranging from kidnapping to assassination that Wotton flirted with throughout his embassy.55


Although Wotton’s record as an ambassador was somewhat mixed, as an art dealer he was a revelation. By the late sixteenth century Venice was one of the great centres of Italian Renaissance art, having produced artists of the calibre of Carpaccio, Bellini, Titian, Veronese and Tintoretto. Wotton’s audiences with the Doge in St Mark’s palace brought him face to face with some of the greatest paintings by these masters. In his everyday activities he encountered numerous private collections, art dealers and studios, and soon grasped the opportunity to supplement his meagre diplomatic salary and retain favour back home by satisfying the growing demand for pictures among his London paymasters.


In September 1607 Wotton wrote to inform Cecil, ‘I am preparing for your Lordship’s own delight some things about the subject of architecture, [which] shall be within a few days sent you in picture.’56 This was a particularly appropriate gift for Cecil, who was just beginning extensive renovations to his newly acquired estate of Hatfield House. By April Wotton was writing to Cecil to thank him for the arrival of ‘your picture wherewith it hath pleased you to honour me’. This was a copy of de Critz’s portrait of Cecil. Its arrival in Venice was designed to extend the sitter’s political influence, but the ambassador cleverly turned the gift to his own advantage. Wotton admired the portrait, while also commissioning a new version to be sent back to Salisbury: ‘I have thought that being done here in mosaic, it may afterwards be very fitly placed in the front of your buildings over the portal’57 at Hatfield House – where it can still be seen to this day.


In the same letter Wotton also modestly offered ‘two or three poor things’, including several Venetian paintings and maps. The jewel of the consignment was a painting that Wotton described as ‘Prometheus devoured by the eagle, done by Giacobo Palma in concurrence with Titiano, which for the emulation between two painters (both of no small name) I dare say to be worthy of a corner in one of your Lordship’s galleries’.58 Wotton’s intimate knowledge of Cecil’s houses, including his galleries, provided him with the ideal opportunity to present his master with the perfect gift – a mythological picture by one of Venice’s finest living painters, Palma Giovane (‘Giacobo Palma’). It came with the further (rather optimistic) possibility that the great Venetian master Titian also had a hand in its completion. Wotton stressed that the painter was as important as the subject matter. It was a painting by Palma, rather than an anonymous picture of Prometheus, that was meant to grace the walls of Cecil’s gallery.


Wotton was not alone in putting his London masters in touch with a new world of art. Other Englishmen set out on tours of Europe, including Salisbury’s relative William Cecil, future Earl of Exeter, who travelled through Italy in the summer of 1609. He wrote enthusiastic letters back home to other London collectors, suggesting that if they wanted to increase their ‘magnificence’ they should invest in ‘the works of Benedicto Palma [Giovane] at Venice, who exceeds in doing large pictures as much as the whole side of a great chamber’. Word of Palma’s fame had spread since Wotton’s recommendation of his work to Salisbury. Cecil wrote home praising ‘a little old man called John Bologna [Giovanni Bologna] (the Duke’s servant and at Florence) who is not inferior much to Michelangelo’.59 It was a recommendation that would have significant repercussions back in London.


Word of the reputations of artists like Palma and Giovanni di Bologna soon spread through Whitehall. The effect on the court of the fifteen-year-old Prince Henry was profound. Henry was more popular than ever and his circle increasingly defined itself as an alternative to James’s court, which heightened tensions between Henry and his father. The Venetian ambassador reported that the king was not ‘overpleased to see his son so popular and of such promise that his subjects place all their hopes in him; and it would almost seem, to speak quite frankly, that the king was growing jealous’.60


Nowhere were the differences between father and son greater than in their patronage of the arts. Henry patronized several artists and, despite his own religious views, retained connections with Catholic collectors like Lumley and Northampton. But it was Salisbury who retained closest access to the prince. He wrote to him about the paintings Wotton sent from Venice, including the Palma. The prince’s adviser, Sir David Murray, wrote that Henry ‘desires that you come before one of clock with your pictures . . . or if you have any business to hinder your journey, that you may send my Lord of Arundel as deputy to set forth the praise of your pictures’.61 Arundel was another member of the Catholic Howard clan who acted as an artistic adviser to the prince. The viewing was obviously a success: shortly afterwards Palma’s picture was to be found in the prince’s possession, hanging in the gallery of St James. Painted in Venice, bought by Wotton for Salisbury, Palma’s picture arrived in England only to be given away again – to the heir to the English throne.


The year 1610 was a defining one for Henry and his collection. He was invested as Prince of Wales, with a substantial annual income of £80,000 to match his new title as heir to the throne. He could now afford to indulge his interest in art.62 He quickly appropriated his mother’s French painter Isaac Oliver to paint his portrait before a romanticized battlefield, showing him resplendent in his armour and the Order of the Garter.63 Henry also asked the Tuscan ambassador to London to send him an artist capable of providing his court with the magnificence associated with the Medici dynasty.


In June 1611 the Florentine painter and architect Constantino de’ Servi arrived at Greenwich, where Queen Anna, a noted lover of all things Italian, immediately commissioned him to paint her portrait. As he had done with Oliver, Henry reclaimed de’ Servi and put him to work at his new palace at Richmond, constructing fountains, summer houses and galleries ‘according to the style of Florence’.64 Henry tried to woo other Italian, French and Dutch artists to London, but this was never easy and he often needed to rely on more native talent. Robert Peake remained his officially appointed court painter and was paid handsomely for his grand portraits of the prince, while Inigo Jones was appointed Surveyor of the Prince’s Works, and kept busy with various architectural and theatrical projects.


The ambitious court that surrounded the young prince inspired many of these initiatives. Sir Walter Cope wrote to the new English ambassador to Venice, Sir Dudley Carleton, appointed to replace Wotton in July 1610. Cope told Carleton, ‘If you meet with any ancient Master pieces of paintings at a reasonable hand, you cannot send a thing more gracious, either to the Prince, or to my Lord Treasurer [Salisbury]’,65 – politely reminding him of the need to continue the tradition of dealing in pictures established by Wotton. His letter also suggests that Henry was part of an extensive network of London collectors. Encouraged by Henry’s circle, ambassadors, nobles, peers and merchants began sending pictures to Richmond and St James’s. German merchants resident in London presented Henry with two paintings by Holbein, while Lady Cumberland and Sir Thomas Cecil discreetly dispatched pictures to the prince’s court, although their standard was probably not up to that of the Holbeins and Palmas that arrived from Europe.66


Europe provided Henry with his largest donation of pictures in the last years of his life, primarily because of his growing eligibility among the European royal families of the day. King James was in the enviable position of having not one but two sons with whom to arrange politically advantageous marriages. As future heir to the English throne, Henry was particularly sought after. Following his investiture as Prince of Wales, various European powers began to petition for his favour, and the most elegant currency with which to broker political alliances was pictures. The first to enter this game of diplomatic gift-giving was the States-General of the Dutch Republic, the assembly of governors representing the seven provinces in the predominantly Protestant and anti-Spanish northern Low Countries. Following decades of war with Spain, these provinces finally concluded the Twelve Years’ Truce that gave them official independence. The States-General looked to England for support as its natural Protestant ally, and in particular to its new young heir. Henry appeared to adopt a far more hawkish approach to the Spanish than his father, who had already opened discussions with Spain to marry Henry off to a Spanish princess.


Alarmed at James’s growing friendship with Spain and eager to establish diplomatic and commercial relations with England, the States-General appointed an embassy to travel to London in April 1610. They allocated 16,000 guilders to buy gifts for presentation ‘to some of the most important gentleman, having the most direction of affairs’.67 The embassy chose ‘a certain painting made at Haarlem by Master Vroom of the Sea Battle before Gibraltar’ against the Spanish. It was deliberately chosen ‘to honour the Prince of Wales with it, whose succession is certain and whose friendship is needed by this country’.68 It was essential to establish good relations with the future king of England, and warn him against political rapprochement with Spain, and this was a particularly appropriate gift for a prince who was becoming increasingly involved in the refurbishment of England’s ageing naval fleet.69


The Dutch ambassador noted that Henry was delighted at the idea of receiving ‘some fine paintings by the best masters in this country’. Emboldened, the ambassadors bought another Vroom, portraying ‘a storm at sea, to be given as a present to the Prince of Wales’.70 The Venetian ambassador recorded that ‘the Dutch Ambassadors before leaving presented to the Prince some very finished paintings on canvas. They were painted on purpose to adorn one wall of his gallery.’71 Henry’s advisers had clearly discussed the subject matter and subsequent location of the pictures at some length. Everyone was happy: Henry received a collection of handsome contemporary Dutch paintings and the States-General received key diplomatic concessions from England, including their most pressing demand – the rights to fish off the coast of England.


The gift was hardly an aesthetic coup. Henry received a collection of naval scenes appropriate for the interests of a fifteen-year-old fascinated by warships. But the gift whetted the appetite of Henry’s court for Dutch art. The prince’s advisers decided to source pictures directly from the art markets and studios of the Low Countries, even though their frustration at closing deals often had its more comical dimensions. Writing from Brill, one of Henry’s supporters, Sir Henry Conway, complained to the prince’s artistic adviser, Adam Newton, ‘I have been seeking to buy some good pieces of painting but this people will as easily be bought out of their habit of drinking as out of their affections for a picture.’ Despite his concern at the fondness of the Dutch for both a good painting and a good drink, Conway did concede, ‘There was one piece at Rotterdam, for the master workman’s sake that made it, of some reputation, and was to be sold, and I glad to hear of a price set upon a piece of work that was ancient and recommended, I bought it.’72 It’s not known what Conway purchased, but his criteria for buying were typical of those of Henry’s circle – the painter had to be an acknowledged master, and it helped if the picture was reasonably old and came with a good reputation on the open market. The chances are that Conway’s purchase went straight into Henry’s newly designed galleries at Richmond and St James’s.


Henry also set his sights on pictures and statues from even further afield. His target was Italy, but he soon discovered that the price of Italian art was calculated not in pounds or ducats but in terms of his own value as a husband. Just weeks before the arrival of the Dutch embassy of 1610, King James had opened negotiations for Henry’s hand in marriage with diplomatic representatives of Cosimo II, Grand Duke of Tuscany. The complex network of international dynastic alliances provided James with a dilemma. Should he marry Henry off to a Catholic power – Spain, Savoy or Tuscany – or a less powerful Protestant state? The former was more politically and financially attractive, and would retain the delicate balance of power, but it risked domestic opposition, not least from Henry himself, who had ‘resolved that two religions should never lie in his bed’.73 However, Cosimo’s Florentine court possessed money, as well as the unparalleled riches of the Medici art collection.


In September 1609 Cosimo dispatched his ambassador Vincenzo Salviati to negotiate a marriage between Henry and Cosimo’s sister Princess Caterina. In the midst of discussions, Salviati asked Queen Anna and Henry to choose Florentine works of art for their collections. Henry demurred. He knew his father wanted to marry him off to a Catholic princess despite his religious objections and suspected that such gifts were, as one of his circle later claimed rather dramatically, ‘means to enchain the soul of the Prince’.74 Nothing happened until the following March, by which time the artistic curiosity of Henry and his circle got the better of their political misgivings. One of Henry’s advisers approached Ottaviano Lotti with a request for books and pictures from Florence. These included painted angels by Domenico Beccafumi, the Sienese artist and follower of Michelangelo, as well as copies of the series of ‘uomini illustri’, or Famous Men that formed the centrepiece of the duke’s art collection.75 The precision of the request suggests that someone in Henry’s entourage had returned from Italy offering enthusiastic descriptions of these works. This also explains why a month later Henry let it be known that he ‘would like some little stucco statues, about a braccia high, that one finds there by worthy men, such as Giovanni Bologna’.76
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